IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-859

MANUEL ANTONIO RODRIGUEZ,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL A. DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - South

ROSEANNE ECKERT Assistant CCRC - South

BARBARA L. COSTA CCRC Staff Attorney

Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

COUNSEL FOR MR. RODRIGUEZ

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 15, 1993, Manuel Antonio Rodriguez was indicted in the Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Miami-Dade County for three counts of first-degree murder and armed burglary with assault that occurred on December 4, 1984. R. 5-8. Mr. Rodriguez entered a "not guilty" plea and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him. The Public Defender had to withdraw due to a conflict that arose out of Assistant Public Defender Art Koch's representation of the co-defendant, Luis Rodriguez. Thereafter, attorneys Richard Houlihan and Eugene Zenobi were appointed to represent him at trial. R. 30-34.

The Defendant moved to suppress various statements that he had made to law enforcement. R. 47-49; T. 20-475. Following a hearing, the motion was granted in part, and denied in part, by the Honorable Judge Leslie Rothenberg on April 10, 1995. R. 349-364.

Mr. Rodriguez was tried before a jury beginning on October 7, 1996 and on October 24, 1996, he was convicted on all counts. R. 867-870; T. 3506-07. The penalty phase convened on December 9, 1996 after which the jury recommended that Mr. Rodriguez be sentenced to death for each count of first-degree murder. R. 1291-92; T. 4323. On January 31, 1997, the trial court sentenced Mr. Rodriguez to death for the three murder convictions, and to life imprisonment for the armed burglary conviction. R. 1738-1792; T. 4454-55.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions and sentences. <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 753 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 2000). The petition to the United States Supreme Court for certiorari was denied on October 2, 2000. <u>Rodriguez v. Florida</u>, 121 S. Ct. 145 (2000).

On September 14, 2001, the Defendant filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 (2000). Supp. PCR. 1775-1847. Judge Rothenberg presided over most of the public records litigation until her resignation from the circuit court bench and Judge Diane Ward was assigned to the case. Judge Ward recused herself and the Honorable Judge Victoria Sigler presided over the remainder of the post-conviction proceedings. Supp. PCR. 2014-2019. The Defendant filed his amended motion to vacate convictions and sentences on April 16, 2004. PCR. 42-167.

On August 24, 2004, the lower court granted an evidentiary hearing on only those sub-issues in one claim on which the State conceded that there was a need for a hearing. PCR. 901-914 (transcript of hearing held pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993)). The remaining claims, including all penalty phase issues, were summarily denied. A limited evidentiary hearing was held on December 16, 2004 and December 23, 2004. PCR. 955-1086, 1221-1313.

The lower court granted leave to file written closing arguments once the transcripts were prepared. Upon receipt of the transcripts, the Defendant filed a "Motion to Reconstruct the Record" due to numerous mistakes in the transcripts along with the post-hearing memorandum. PCR. 368, 389. The Defendant subsequently filed a motion to disqualify the judge upon learning that Judge Sigler assisted in "correcting" the record without notice to the parties. Supp. PCR. 2229-2238.¹ Both the motion to disqualify and the amended motion for post-conviction relief were denied on May 3, 2005. PCR. 590-634; Supp. PCR. 2239-2240. The notice of appeal was filed on May 12, 2005. PCR. 636-637.

On December 14, 2006, Mr. Rodriguez joined in a petition filed in this Court challenging Florida's lethal injection protocols following the botched execution of inmate Angel Diaz. This Court dismissed the petition with respect to Mr. Rodriguez without prejudice. <u>Lightbourne et al. v. McCollum</u>, SC06-2392 (Fla.

¹The "original" transcripts are at PCR. 955-1086 (12/16/04) and PCR. 1221-1331 (12/23/04). The transcripts labeled "corrected" (by Judge Sigler and the court reporter) can be found at PCR. 1087-1220 and PCR. 1314-1406.

The parties' suggested corrections are located at PCR. 392-425; however, the page numbers reflected on the suggested corrections and referred to at a hearing on May 3, 2005 do not match the page numbers on the "original" transcripts. PCR. 1466-1599. During the preparation of this brief, counsel noticed that there are errors that were not pointed out by either party in the lower court. The Defendant objects to the "corrected" version and therefore will refer to the "original" version first and then, if necessary, will refer to other pages in the record.

Feb. 9, 2007).

On March 12, 2007, this Court relinquished jurisdiction to the circuit court for the purpose of completing the supplemental record. Supp. PCR. 3196. Upon relinquishment, Mr. Rodriguez filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge Based on Newly Discovered Evidence. Supp. PCR. 3274-3320. Judge Sigler denied this motion on March 23, 2007 and a second (amended) notice of appeal was filed March 30, 2007. Supp. PCR. 3344-3398.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>The investigation and trial.</u>

Manuel Rodriguez was charged with the 1984 armed burglary and murders which occurred in the same Miami apartment complex where he lived with the mother of his children, Maria Malakoff ("Cookie"). The victims were Samuel and Bea Joseph (Manuel's landlords) and the couple's friend, Genevieve Abraham. Mrs. Abraham and her surviving husband, Anthony Abraham, were prominent members in the community; consequently, this was a highly publicized case. <u>See e.g.</u> T. 986, 1035.

Manuel Rodriguez, who suffered from a history of mental illness and substance abuse, contacted the police twice in 1985, under assumed names, to give them tips on this case. T. 4443-46, 2177-82. The police were unable to confirm any of his statements and he became a suspect himself.² T. 2187-89. However, there was no evidence to link him to the crimes. T. 2356-59.

The ensuing investigation revealed many suspects but the police did not arrest anyone until nearly ten years after the crime. T. 349, 2194-2197; Supp. PCR. 868-882.

Many years later Rafael Lopez, seeking to obtain reward money, contacted the police and gave them information that led to the investigation of his brother-inlaw, Luis Rodriguez. T. 3021-22. Luis Rodriguez and Isidoro Rodriguez are Maria Malakoff's brothers and neither are blood relatives of Manuel. Anastasia Elisia Rodriguez is the mother of Maria, Luis, and Isidoro. Isidoro Rodriguez is married to Velia Rodriguez who is Rafael Lopez's sister. T. 2417-27. With the exception

²The trial court granted a motion *in limine* to keep the jury from hearing that Manuel was incarcerated when he contacted the police. T. 2136-41. In recounting these early contacts with Manuel at the trial, Detective Venturi told the jury that he refused to answer any more of his questions after being read his rights under Miranda v. Arizona, 394 U.S. 436 (1966). T. 2160-99.

The challenge to this comment on the right to remain silent was denied on direct appeal because the detective also noted that Manuel had become sick. However, this Court agreed that the admission of Detective Venturi's reference to the fact that Manuel had a police "ID number" and Detective Crawford's erroneous statement that Manuel had used ten false names was improper. Ultimately, this Court determined that the references to collateral crimes were harmless error. Rodriguez at 41-43.

of Velia Rodriguez, each of these related people testified for the State against Manual at his trial.

The information obtained from Rafael Lopez led the police to Orlando, Florida in 1993, where they approached Luis Rodriguez at his place of employment. T. 2256-57, 2280, 2336. The police interrogated Luis and falsely told him that Manuel ("Tony") had already blamed him for the murders. As a result, Luis gave a confession in which he also implicated "Tony." T. 2284. Luis was arrested and charged with the capital murders.

The next day, August 4, 1993, Metro-Dade Detectives Jarrett Crawford and Greg Smith traveled to the Tomoka Correctional Institution where Manuel was incarcerated and obtained incriminating statements through interrogation. T. 194, 318. At this time, there was no physical evidence tying Manuel Rodriguez to the crimes: there was no money trail, no murder weapon, no blood, no footprints, and no DNA. Shortly thereafter, on August 13, 1993, Manuel was placed under arrest for the homicides pursuant to a warrant and he was interrogated once again. Manual gave a series of "bizarre" responses and eventually admitted that he was present at the scene and acted as a lookout. T. 323-24.

Following a hearing on the motion to suppress, the trial court ruled that the statements made while in custody at the Tomoka facility would not be admissible.

However, the trial court ruled that all statements made after Manuel's arrest were voluntary and admissible, specifically noting that there was no expert testimony regarding the effect of medications that Manuel was taking at the time of the interrogation. T. 513-14; R. 349-364. The introduction of the incriminating statements at trial was not challenged on direct appeal.

At the trial, the State set the stage with circumstantial evidence suggesting that Manuel committed the crimes. Anastasia Rodriguez took the stand and recounted for the jury how she discovered a bag of jewelry under her trailer near the time of the crimes. She also relayed that she subsequently saw Manuel and "Cookie" looking for something under the trailer. T. 2065-2096.

Isidoro Rodriguez, Luis's brother, was then called to the stand primarily to corroborate their mother's testimony over a hearsay objection. T. 2416-2525. Isidoro reiterated that Anastasia Rodriguez called him around the time of the 1984 crimes and *told* him that she found a bag containing jewelry and coins under her trailer and that she was afraid she was being framed. Isidoro said that he told her to move the bag and he would travel to South Florida from Orlando to retrieve it. T. 2433-36. He was also allowed to testify that his mother called him again and *told* him that she saw Manuel and Cookie looking for something under the trailer. Thereafter, according to Isidoro, he obtained the bag from his mother and disposed

of it except for one coin. T. 2436-37, 2515.

Isidoro admitted that police threatened to arrest him on this case in 1993. T. 2494. The State presented a purported alibi evidence for him in the form of a note that he claimed he wrote on a calendar, bank records and receipts for work he claimed to perform, and a gas receipt showing that gas was purchased by someone using his credit card in the morning on day of the crimes. All of this evidence was admitted over objection. T. 2439, 2475-2490. The State later bolstered Isidoro's credibility in closing argument by suggesting that he had solid alibi. T. 3371.

The testimony from Isidoro Rodriguez, Anastasia Rodriguez, and other witnesses was not sufficient to establish Manuel's guilt. From the outset, the jury heard that the "State of Florida's case rises or falls completely, totally on Luis." T. 1742 (Defense opening argument). Before the jurors could convict Manuel they had to be convinced of Luis's credibility. At the trial, there was no objection when the prosecutor elicited testimony from Luis on direct that he served in the military, that he had no prior history of mental illness, and that he had never been convicted of taking something by force or violence. T. 2747-2762.

Luis Rodriguez told the jury that, after being recruited by Manuel to commit the crimes, he told his girlfriend, Cathy Sundin ("Carmen"), that he was going to Miami for some business but he did not tell her the nature of the business or what it might involve except that he was going to make some money. T. 2768-69. He told the jury that he did not know the full plan until he arrived in Miami where he learned the plan was to rob the landlords. T. 2795-97. He said that upon his return to Orlando the next day, he told Sundin that he killed two people. T. 2841.

Luis told the jury that the robbery was Manuel's idea. He said that Manuel shot the Josephs and that he only shot Mrs. Abraham because he was scared of Manuel. T. 2827-32. The specific details about how everything happened changed between the time of the initial interrogation and the time that he took the stand at Manuel's trial following his entry into a plea agreement. "I told [the police] the truth except for a couple little areas there I left out the truth." T. 2881. One of the things Luis lied about was whether he actually punched Mrs. Abraham or hit her with his elbow. T. 2881, 2809-10. He initially told police that he was under the influence of cocaine at the time of the crimes – that was apparently not the truth. T. 2752-53. Luis also initially told police that he shot Mrs. Abraham through a pillow – that was apparently not the truth. Luis said in his original statement that he shot at two people – he told the jury that was not the truth. T. 2859.

Luis's initial version was not consistent with the opinions of the medical examiner based on the physical evidence. T. 2646-2669. Luis was cross-examined at trial regarding the fact that the "new" version fit better with what law

enforcement knew about the crime scene. T. 2881 – 2893; see also T. 3288-96.

Luis admitted that he had entered into a written plea agreement in exchange for his "truthful" testimony: he told the jury that his charges were reduced to second degree murder and he was sentenced to life in prison on each count of murder along with a life sentence on the armed burglary which included a three year minimum mandatory prison term. T. 2853-55, 2868-69. Consistent with the State's opening argument, he also told the jury that there were no further promises made to him and that he could only hope that he would someday be paroled through the clemency process. T. 2856, 2869-2872, 1734.

At trial, the jury learned that the police took Luis out of the jail for day trips to the police department and the State Attorney's Office on several occasions for special visits with his family including his mother, brother Isidoro, sister Maria Malakoff, and his daughter. T. 2765, 2353, 2876. After Luis was cross-examined about the nature of the visits, the prosecutor elicited the following from Detective Crawford:

STATE: Was this done for any ulterior motive, was this done so that he would be a cooperative witness or help with prosecution or anything like that?

CRAWFORD: No, sir.

T. 2310 (emphasis added). The jury also heard testimony that Luis was able to have sex with his wife (Carol Arsenault) *without* the detectives' knowledge during the course of these visits.³ T. 2766-77, 2877.

In closing argument, attorney Houlihan told the jury that Luis has never given the same story twice. T. 3279. The defense argued that Luis gave his story to the police only after the police fed him information and lied by telling him that Manuel had turned on him. T. 3281. He argued that the State corroborated Luis's versions only with other family members – family members who were allowed to have special visits with him before trial. T. 3284-85. Houlihan questioned whether there was some hidden deal that they did not know about. T. 3285.

In response, the State said that the defense called Luis a liar but questioned what facts or information the defense had for the jurors to decide their verdict. T. 3302. Assistant State Attorney Abraham Laeser downplayed the importance of the special family visits.

What do the police get out of being decent and letting [Luis] see his family? Do they get a new story, a new version, new facts, new suspects? Or are they just being decent to somebody who had already admitted his acts and asked for permission to see his family? Is there a motive to force Luis to continue to tell the truth? ... We want you to continue telling us the truth, so we are going to let you see your daughter on her birthday.

³Trial counsel argued that the intimate relations were facilitated by the police in opening statement – but the jury never heard any proof of that. T. 1748.

T. 3367 (State's closing argument) (emphasis added). The jury convicted Manuel Rodriguez on all counts. T. 3505-11.

Just prior to the start of the penalty phase, Mr. Rodriguez complained to the trial court about attorney Houlihan. One of Mr. Rodriguez's concerns was the fact that Mr. Houlihan was having constant communication with his wife who was an attorney with the Office of the Public Defender during the representation of Luis Rodriguez. T. 3518-23.

At the penalty phase, the defense presented the testimony of psychologists and psychiatrists who had evaluated Mr. Rodriguez over the preceding twenty years. <u>See Rodriguez</u>, 753 So. 2d at 35. However, each of the expert witnesses who testified for the defense either had been appointed to evaluate Mr. Rodriguez for insanity or competence in connection with his arrest for other crimes or, had treated him when he was hospitalized. None of them re-evaluated him for the purpose of presenting statutory *and* non-statutory mitigation in the context of a capital case. T. 3627-3855. Several of Manuel's family members testified on his behalf; however, the trial court restricted the presentation of mitigation by excluding testimony regarding intergenerational mental illness. In sentencing Mr. Rodriguez to death, Judge Rothenberg specifically rejected his mother's mental illness as a mitigating factor. <u>Rodriguez</u> at 35. The trial court based the death sentences on six aggravating factors, one of which was struck on direct appeal. <u>Id.</u> at 46. This Court upheld challenges to the finding of the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" and "avoid arrest" aggravators based primarily on information that came from Luis Rodriguez. <u>Id.</u> at 43-46.

B. <u>The 2004 evidentiary hearing on the Rule 3.850 motion.</u>

1. LUIS RODRIGUEZ

At the evidentiary hearing, the lower court heard evidence that after the trial, Detectives Crawford and Smith were investigated by internal affairs as a result of Luis's admission at trial that he had sex with his wife at the station while awaiting trial for capital murder. PCR. 1007-1011; Exh. C, 24-27. In a letter written on behalf of the officers, ASA Laeser admitted that the co-defendant was, in fact, granted special favors in an effort to ensure his testimony:

In order to make certain that Luis Rodriguez **remained a cooperating witness, the State did not object to granting him some minor conveniences**, consistent with the security needs of the case. For example, he was permitted to meet on rare occasion, with his mother, sisters, wife, and young daughter in the homicide office or in my office, under the supervision of two or more officers.

Exh. C (letter from ASA Laeser to Metro-Dade Police Department director Fred

13

Taylor dated February 3, 1997) (emphasis added). Detective Crawford admitted at the evidentiary hearing that he **"saw nothing wrong with the request with that man who was willing to cooperate being granted that request.**" PCR. 1294 (emphasis added). Both Crawford and Smith, when testifying at the evidentiary hearing, denied any permission, tacit or otherwise, for Luis to have sex with his wife while he was awaiting trial. PCR. 1291, 1308.

At the hearing Luis gave sworn testimony that Detective Smith actively encouraged him to have sex with his wife: he was told to place a piece of paper (a happy face sticker) over the peephole if he wanted some privacy. PCR. 1023, 1268-1275. This was in direct contravention to Luis's trial testimony. Luis also testified that some of his contact visits with his family took place outside the police station and at a local McDonald's. PCR. 1274. Luis stated that he was not always escorted and he was never handcuffed. PCR. 1275. According to ASA Laeser and Luis there are even "Disney" type of photographs in existence showing Luis, while awaiting trial on a triple-murder, outside, in a car, and in a courtyard with his family members. No law enforcement officers appear in some of the photographs. PCR. 994-1004, 1262-64. Luis's former attorney, former Assistant Public Defender Art Koch confirmed that the photographs were taken at his suggestion. PCR. 1232-39.

There is no record that the State ever turned the photographs over to trial counsel and neither Mr. Houlihan nor Mr. Zenobi could recall ever seeing the described photographs.⁴ PCR. 1044, 1075. They each testified that they would have used the information that the police facilitated the sexual relations if they had known about it. PCR. 1052-53, 987-88.

Luis also testified at the evidentiary hearing that when the police approached him in 1993, they told him that his family members had been arrested ("picked up") and he was shown pictures of them. PCR. 1260-1261. These family members

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