IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MANUEL ANTONIO RODRIGUEZ,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-859 L.T. No. F93-25817B

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0012068

KATHERINE MARIA DIAMANDIS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 69116
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Defendant alleges that the trial court erred in denying a hearing regarding the prosecutor's comments. In regard to the prosecutor's comments, Defendant's claim is procedurally barred and was properly denied. Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel was not cognizable below. Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 660 (Fla. 2000). The lower court properly denied these claims.

Defendant lastly alleges that the lower court erred in failing to conduct a hearing on Defendant's claims that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional, Defendant is innocent of the death penalty and that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

Defendant recited the claims he raised in the lower court and mentions the lower court's ruling but presents no argument regarding why the lower court erred in rendering its ruling. Since Defendant has not presented any argument concerning why the lower court erred, he has waived these claims. Bryant, 901 So. 2d at 827-28; Duest, 555 So. 2d at 852. The denial of post conviction relief should be affirmed.

Even if the issues were not waived, Defendant is entitled to no relief. Defendant's claim regarding Florida's death penalty statute was properly denied. This claim is procedurally barred as a claim that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Byrd v. State, 597 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1992). Moreover, the claim is entirely devoid of merit, as it has been repeatedly rejected by this Court. Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 647-48 (Fla. 1995); Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1020 & n.5 (Fla. 1994); Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 794 & n.7 (Fla. 1992); Arango v. State, 411 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla.

1982).

As to Defendant's claim he is innocent of the death penalty, this claim was properly denied.

To prove a claim of actual innocence of the death penalty, a defendant must show "based on the evidence proffered plus all record evidence, a fair probability that a rational fact finder would have entertained a reasonable doubt as to the existence of those facts which are prerequisites under state or federal law for the imposition of the death penalty." Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 346 (1992)(quoting Sawyer v. Whitley, 945 F.2d 812 (5th Cir. 1991)). In applying this test to Florida's sentencing law, the Eleventh Circuit stated:

a petitioner may make a colorable showing that he is actually innocent of the death penalty by presenting evidence that an alleged constitutional error implicates <u>all</u> of the aggravating factors found to be present by the sentencing body. That is, but for the constitutional error, the sentencing body <u>could not</u> have found <u>any</u> aggravating factors and thus petitioner was ineligible for the death penalty.

Johnson v. Singletary, 938 F.2d 1166, 1183 (11th Cir. 1991)(en banc). This Court has also applied this test. Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 17 (Fla. 2003).

Here, the trial court found six aggravating factors in support of Defendant's death sentence: under a sentence of imprisonment, prior violent felonies, during the course of a burglary, avoid arrest, pecuniary gain and CCP. Defendant did

not make any specific allegation regarding why any juror would have had a reasonable doubt about any of these aggravating circumstances. His claim was properly denied.

In order to allege a claim of innocence of the death penalty, Defendant had to present new evidence showing that a reasonable juror could not have found any aggravating circumstance in this matter. However, Defendant did not present any new evidence that negated any of the six aggravators found by the trial court.

Regarding Defendant's Ring claim, Ring is not retroactive.

See Johnson v. State, 904 So. 2d 400, 402 (Fla. 2005)("We hold that . . . the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ring v.

Arizona . . . does not apply retroactively in Florida."). 42

Defendant's Ring claim is without merit.

VI. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE REMAINDER OF MR. RODRIGUEZ'S CLAIMS. 43

Defendant was denied access to public records. 44

 $^{^{42}}$ As for Defendant's claim below that a unanimous jury vote is required, the jury recommended by a vote of 12-0 a sentence of death on all three murder counts. *Rodriguez*, 753 So. 2d at 35.

⁴³ To the extent Defendant has failed to present any argument in his brief he has waived these issues. *Bryant*, 901 So. 2d at 828 (citing *Duest v. Dugger*, 533 So. 2d. 849, 852 (Fla. 1990)).

Defendant's argument he is unable to fully brief this issue due to missing transcripts is without merit. Appellee relies on its argument above in response to Defendant's transcript claim under Argument II.

Defendant asserted that he is entitled to post conviction relief because he was denied certain public records requests. However, this claim was summarily denied as facially insufficient. In his motion, Defendant did not allege what agencies have yet to provide public records or what public records remain outstanding. As such, his claim is facially insufficient and was properly denied. Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 659 (Fla. 2000).

Notwithstanding, Defendant did not diligently seek the records. As outlined in the Statement of the Post Conviction Proceedings above, he was given repeated opportunities to refile his improperly filed requests and show the relevancy of the records he sought, but never said much more than this person's fingerprints had been checked against latents found at the scene. Defendant also did not even request additional public records for months and had the State set all of his public records hearings for him. Further, as the lower court found, the requests were overbroad. Defendant sought every record in existence regarding more than 250 people. The only link alleged between these people and this case is that the detectives had their prints checked against the latents and there was no match. He was told that he needed to explain why records regarding these people were relevant and he could not do so even though he

was given multiple opportunities. Defendant was not diligent in seeking public records, which waives the right to public records. See Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 2000).

Lastly, the lower court held numerous hearings on public records production. The issues were litigated. The lower court already ruled regarding Defendant's requests. Defendant did not present any grounds for revisiting those rulings. (PCR 5/633). Defendant is not entitled to any relief here.

Defendant had a right to be present at all critical stages of the trial. A claim that a defendant was denied his right to be present is a claim that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Rutherford v. Moore, 774 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 2000); Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So. 2d 100, 105 (Fla. 1994). Claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Francis, 581 So. 2d 583. As such, this claim is procedurally barred and was properly denied.

Even if the claim was not procedurally barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief because the claim is refuted by the record and meritless. Defendant was present for his suppression hearing. (T. 22). He was present after lunch recess (T. 172). The other instances Defendant cited to where he was not present were times where only legal issues were

discussed and Defendant's right to be present was not implicated in these instances. *Rutherford v. Moore*, 774 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 2000). The claim was properly denied.

Defendant was not competent to stand trial. Defendant asserted that he was entitled to post conviction relief because he was not competent to stand trial. He also asserted that his counsel was ineffective for failing to request a competency hearing and that the trial court should have held a hearing sua sponte. However, these claims were properly denied as procedurally barred and without merit.

To establish a procedural incompetence claim that the trial court improperly handled the issue of competence, a defendant must allege and prove that the facts known to the trial court at the time of trial were such that a reasonable person would have had a bona fide doubt regarding the defendant's competence. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966). Because this claim is dependent on the information known to the trial court at the time of trial and is dependent on the record, this claim is procedurally barred if it is not raised on direct appeal. Medina v. Singletary, 59 F.3d 1095, 1111 (11th Cir. 1995). To establish a substantive incompetence claim that the defendant was in fact tried while incompetent, a defendant must allege and prove that the defendant did not have a rational and factual understanding

of the proceeding against him and could not assist his attorney. Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960). In considering such a claim, the court is not limited to record evidence. However, a prior determination of competency is a finding of Demosthenes v. Baal, 495 U.S. 731, 735 (1990)("A state court's determination on the merits of a factual issue are entitled to a presumption of correctness on federal habeas corpus review. . . . We have held that a state court's conclusion regarding a defendant's competency is entitled to such a presumption."); Maggio v. Fulford, 462 U.S. 111, 117 (1983)(same). As such, to state such a claim sufficiently, a defendant must allege "'clear and convincing evidence [raising] a substantial doubt' as to his or her competency to stand trial." James v. Singletary, 957 F.2d 1562, 1572 (11th Cir. 1992). In determining whether the evidence sufficient, it must be remembered that "neither intelligence, mental deficiency, nor bizarre, volatile, irrational behavior can be equated with mental incompetence to stand trial." Medina v. Singletary, 59 F.3d 1095, 1107 (11th Cir. 1995).

To allege a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel regarding a claim of incompetency, a defendant must allege specific factual deficiencies of counsel's performance. Strickland. Because a finding of incompetency will result in the

trial not being held until the defendant is restored to competency, the defendant must allege and prove that there is a reasonable probability that the trial court would have found the defendant incompetent but for counsel's alleged deficiency. Futch v. Dugger, 874 F.2d 1483, 1487 (11th Cir. 1989).

With regard to the procedural incompetence claim, this claim is procedurally barred. Defendant did not request a competency hearing at the time of trial. He did not assert that the trial court had erred in failing to have him evaluated for competency sua sponte on appeal. As such, this issue procedurally barred. Medina, 59 F.3d at 1111. Even if the claim was not procedurally barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. The record does not reflect that the facts known to the trial court would have caused it to have a bona fide doubt regarding Defendant's competence. At the time of trial, the trial court knew that Defendant had previously been found to be competent to proceed. (R. 350). It had appointed defense experts to evaluate Defendant and no motion regarding competence was filed after these evaluation. (R. 36, 54, 492). While Defendant asserted that the trial court should have realized Defendant was incompetent, this assertion is not in accordance with the record.

Instead, the record reflects that the trial court observed Defendant conversing with his attorneys. (T. 1660). The record also shows that Defendant responded in an appropriate and coherent fashion when the trial court addressed him. (T. 2965, 3209-3211, 3223, 3225-3227, 3233-3234, 3369-3371, 3453-3455, 3516-3523, 3731-3732, 3805-3815, 3959-3961, 3972-3979, 4078-4095, 4186-4194).

Defendant was able to name mental health experts whom he had seen in the past, where he had seen them and what they had done for him. (T. 3976-3977). Defendant accurately asserted that the State was claiming that he had been malingering to avoid responsibility for his criminal acts.⁴⁵ (T. 3977-3979).

 $^{^{\}rm 45}$ Defendant's statements also indicate a full awareness of what was happening at trial. He was able to remember the suppression hearing testimony at the time of closing argument and complain about his counsel's failure to make an argument based on it. (T. 3369-3371). He recognized that his attorneys had not mentioned a particular inconsistency in Luis's statements in closing. (T. 3453-3455). He accurately perceived that some of the jurors were having difficulty staying awake during the penalty phase and the actions of other jurors to keep everyone attentive. (T. 3805-09). He accurately recalled a juror's voir dire answers two months later during the penalty phase. (T. 3809-3812). He recognized that one juror's husband had been attending trial on a regular basis. (T. 4186-88). He understood the rebuttal to his penalty phase evidence. (T. 3977-79). complained about the State's ability to present rebuttal evidence at the penalty phase. (R. 1225). As the record shows that Defendant did accurately perceive what was happening at trial, there is no reason for the trial court to have believed that he did not.

As can be seen from the foregoing, the record does not reveal that the trial court had any reason to have a bona fide doubt about Defendant's competence, and the claim that it should have ordered a competency hearing is without merit. Pate. The claim should be denied.

With regard to the substantive incompetence claim, the record refutes this claim and it properly denied. was Defendant's assertion of incompetence is based on the allegation that he was hallucinating and did not perceive what occurring at trial. However, as outlined above, the record affirmatively demonstrates that Defendant did accurately perceive what was occurring at trial. Given that the record reflects Defendant did accurately perceive what was happening at trial, Defendant's assertion to the contrary does not present clear and convincing evidence that there was a substantial doubt about his competence. Medina.

With regard to the claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to claim that Defendant was incompetent, the claim was properly denied. As argued, the record shows that Defendant did accurately perceive what was happening at trial. Under these circumstances, there is no reasonable probability that Defendant would have been found incompetent had counsel raised the issue. Futch. The judgment of the lower court should be affirmed.

Racial discrimination in the imposition of the death penalty.

Claims that statistical studies show that race was a factor in seeking the death penalty are claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. See Foster v. State, 614 So. 2d 455, 463-64 (Fla. 1992). Claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Francis, 581 So. 2d 583. As such, this claim was properly denied as procedurally barred.

Moreover, the claim is facially insufficient. In McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279 (1987), the United States Supreme Court considered a claim that imposition of the death penalty was unconstitutional because of the Baldus study, on which Defendant relies. The Court rejected the claim. The Court held that to prove a claim that a sentence was invalid based on racial discrimination, a defendant must show "that the decisionmakers in his case acted with discriminatory purpose." Id. at 293. This Court has repeatedly relied upon McCleskey to reject claims of racial bias in imposition of the death penalty. See, e.g., Robinson v. State, 773 So. 2d 1, 5-6 (Fla. 2000); Foster v. State, 614 So. 2d 455, 463-64 (Fla. 1992); McCrae v. State, 510 So. 2d 874, 879 (Fla. 1987).

Defendant proffered no evidence that the decisionmakers in his case acted with discriminatory intent. Instead, he relies on

the Baldus study and similar studies regarding the entire state. However, these studies are insufficient to raise this claim under McCleskey. The claim was properly denied.

Defendant is insane to be executed. This claim cannot be raised until an execution is imminent. See Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 405-06 (1993). Here, Defendant's execution is not imminent; no warrant had been issued for his execution, and no date has been set. As such, this claim was properly denied as not ripe for adjudication.

Defendant is entitled to a new trial due to cumulative error.

This claim was properly summarily denied, where, as here, the individual errors alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit. *Downs v. State*, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n.5 (Fla. 1999).

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